FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/16/2021 10:28 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/16/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99677-6

Case No. 3726267-III

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

BURTON DEZIHAN,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew Z. Crotty Crotty & Son Law Firm, PLLC 905 West Riverside, Suite 404 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 850-7011 matt@crottyandson.com

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold that an anonymous person's telephonic statement to Mr. Dezihan that Mr. Dezihan was not hired by the Department of Human and Health Services (DSHS) because he was a whistleblower trigger the discovery rule for the purposes of statute of limitation tolling?

B. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold that Mr. Dezihan's multiple years of service as a member of the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) Executive Advisory Committee on the WDFW's Commission for Persons with Disabilities - - a position for which he received pay for days he worked and travel reimbursements - - was not a whistleblower eligible for RCW 42.40's protections because Mr. Dezihan was not a full-time employee of the State of Washington?

C. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold that estoppel did not apply to this case because the State Auditor's Office's representation to Mr. Dezihan that he was protected under RCW 42.40 was a legal issue even though the issue of a person's employee status is an issue of fact?

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Procedural History

On January 11, 2018, Mr. Dezihan sued the State of Washington for violation of RCW 42.40 (whistleblower retaliation), blacklisting, invasion of privacy, and negligence. CP 3 - 9. The State of Washington answered on June 22, 2018, and pled, as an affirmative defense, that "Plaintiff was not an employee of the State of Washington and therefore privy to the rights and protections as such." CP 15. Thereafter (a) the State moved to dismiss Mr. Dezihan's complaint because Mr. Dezihan was, in the State's revised opinion, not a State-employee; (b) Mr. Dezihan responded to the motion arguing that the State was estopped from asserting that Mr. Dezihan was not a State-employee; and, (c) on October 19, 2018, the trial court denied the State's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Mr. Dezihan's lawsuit and, in doing so, ruled:

Here, if the Court grant equitable estoppel against the government, there wouldn't be any specific governmental functions impaired estoppel because we're dealing with one instance here, not an ongoing problem. It's not something where people are out drilling wells or engaging in conduct that may be harmful to the environment or others. It's something that happened years ago and it's one individual asserting his rights under the statute. Additionally, it appears that there would be a manifest injustice if the State is able, for years, to assert that Mr. Dezihan possesses the protections under the whistleblower statutes and then later, when a problem arises, all of a sudden allege he was never covered. For purposes of the motion here, the Court finds there is an issue of fact as to whether Mr. Dezihan was an employee. It's not an issue of law simply because it's not clearly defined in the statute. Mr. Dezihan had been informed by way of letters from the auditor that he is an employee. In addition,

if the Court were to enforce the strict reading of RCW 42.40.020, it would result in manifest injustice. The State has previously made an admission that Mr. Dezihan was an employee, Mr. Dezihan appeared to have relied on that admission, and now shifting course would cause a manifest injustice. For these reasons, the Court concludes that whether or not Mr. Dezihan was an employee is a factual question for a jury to decide, not a legal question for the court to decide, meaning that the State's motion will be denied. RP 39-40.

The parties thereafter filed cross motions for summary judgment, which were heard on November 15, 2019. CP 139-154, 335-345; RP 46. On December 4, 2019, the Court granted the State's motion in full, denied Mr. Dezihan's motion in full. CP 350. On December 19, 2019, Mr. Dezihan filed his Notice of Appeal and amended that Notice of Appeal on December 30, 2019. CP 351, 360. On March 23, 2021, Division III issued its opinion terminating review of Mr. Dezihan's case.

Factual Background

On May 6, 2008, Mr. Dezihan filed a whistleblower complaint with the SAO. CP 43. The whistleblower complaint focused on improper use of government time by a State employee, Jack Nannery. CP 42, 88. Accompanying Mr. Dezihan to the SAO's office on May 6, 2008 was Don Gillespie, another State employee. CP 43, 88-89. At the SAO office, whistleblower investigators/employees Sandra "Sandy" Miller and LaRene Barlin questioned Mr. Dezihan about his work for the State. CP 43. Mr. Dezihan explained that since 2006 he had worked as a member of the Executive Advisory Committee to the WDFW Commission for Persons with Disabilities. CP 43-46. The Advisory Committee for Persons With Disabilities "represents the interests of hunters and fishers with disabilities", is a four year commitment, and mandates attendance at meetings. CP 413. "Advisory Committee members are dedicated volunteers who donate thousands of hours to improve access to fishing, hunting, and wildlife opportunities; not only for persons with disabilities, but for all Washington citizens." CP 402. Mr. Dezihan further explained that as a member of the WDFW committee the State (a) reimbursed his expenses including mileage, travel costs, and lodging; and, (b) that he also received "Work Days" pay which served as a wage for work performed in completing his official duties. CP 43-46, 55-69. Those duties included meeting with the Governor, meeting with legislators, attending legislative meetings and other official business. CP 43, 44, 57. Utilizing State forms, Mr. Dezihan reported his hours, mileage, expenses, dates and meeting locations, and per RCW 77.04.150, Mr. Dezihan was also immune from civil liability. CP 43-46, 55 -60, 64 - 67. Mr. Dezihan ended his conversation with Ms. Miller and Ms. Barlin by providing them the names of the individuals he worked with as well as his supervisor. CP 46. That same day and in that same meeting, Ms. Miller informed Mr. Dezihan that he met the requirements of a State employee who could file a confidential whistleblower complaint under the state's whistleblower law. CP 46. Ms. Miller told Mr. Dezihan: "Under our rules, you are a state employee." Id. Defendant admits that Ms. Miller and Ms. Barlin had the authority to determine whether a person making a whistleblower complaint was an employee as defined under the whistleblower statute. CP 225.

Accordingly, Mr. Dezihan assembled the materials necessary to submit his whistleblower complaint; however, before submitting the whistleblower complaint, Mr. Dezihan re-confirmed that his identity, name, address, and any other personal information would be confidential. CP 47-48. Ms. Miller assured Mr. Dezihan that his name, identity, and all other personal information would be absolutely confidential and that only the SAO (the office conducting the whistleblower investigation) would know who filed the Whistleblower Complaint. CP 47. It was only after Mr. Dezihan confirmed and was provided this assurance of confidentiality, that he submitted the whistleblower complaint form and materials. CP 47.

The whistleblower complaint form itself included language stating his name would be kept confidential: "If you choose to provide your name, we will keep it confidential." CP 71. Mr. Dezihan relied on the SAO's verbal and written assurance on May 6, 2008 that his personal information as an RCW 42.40 whistleblower would remain confidential. CP 47. If Mr. Dezihan had not received the assurance of confidentiality on May 6, 2008, or the assurance that he was a protected RCW 42.40 whistleblower, then he would not have filed the whistleblower complaint form on May 6, 2008. CP 47.

In the late-summer/early fall of 2012 Mr. Dezihan applied for a position with the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS). CP 444. During that process an unidentified DSHS employee told Mr. Dezihan that he did not get the job because he was a whistleblower and that if ever asked this unidentified DSHS employee would deny having told Mr. Dezihan that he was not hired on account of his whistleblowing activity. CP 442, 518-519. In explaining why he took no further action at that time Mr. Dezihan testified "Legally, how do I prove or disprove a phone call? Was it recorded? Nobody sent me anything in writing, and nobody identified themselves by names." CP 443. Mr. Dezihan did not know the direct phone number to the unidentified person who told him about the non-hire reason. CP 444.

Mr. Dezihan attended the *Chaussee v. State of Washington* trial. CP 184. During the trial the State's attorney, Joseph Diaz admitted that Mr. Dezihan's fully unredacted whistleblower complaint had been released. CP 184. Mr. Dezihan subsequently sued the State for (a) violating RCW 42.40, (b) blacklisting, (c) invasion of privacy and (d) negligence. CP 3-9.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review because Division III's decision time barring Petitioner's claims on statute of limitations grounds conflicts with Washington State Supreme Court precedence.

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Dezihan's negligence, invasion of privacy, and blacklisting claims were barred under the three year statute of limitations, cited *EPIC v. CliftonLawsonAllen LLP*, 199 Wn. App. 257, 276 (2017) and *Giraud v. Quincy Farm & Chem.*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 450 (2000), in support, and found that since an unnamed hiring manager from the DSHS told him, in 2012, that he did not get a job because he was a whistleblower then his entire lawsuit was barred under the three year statute of limitations. (Opinion, p. 13, 14)

The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review of this decision for the following reasons.

First, Division III's holding that a single unnamed DSHS manager's statement that Mr. Dezihan did not get the job because he was a whistleblower triggers the statute of limitations for the purpose of the discovery rule conflicts with Washington State Supreme Court precedent. (Opinion P. 14) In denying the State's summary judgment motion on the statute of limitations issue, the trial court cited *Winbun v. Moore*, 143 Wn.2d 206, 213 (2001) which holds "[t]he determination of when a plaintiff discovered or through the exercise of due diligence should have discovered the basis for a cause of action is a factual question for the jury." (CP 355)

Second, Division III erred by relying on the factually distinguishable *EPIC* decision. *EPIC* is factually distinguishable because it involved a business suing its accountant for failing to advise its client that the business could not spend one year's grant money in another year. *EPIC*, 199 Wn. App. at 274. In *EPIC* not only did a paper trail exist probative of the accounting firm's failure but also in existence was a letter

from the federal government telling the business that it was misusing federal funds. *Id.* Crucially, in holding that the plaintiff knew of the facts giving rise to its claims the *EPIC* court noted that the plaintiff "does not identify any material fact which it knew when it filed the lawsuit in December 2015 that it did not know by February 2012." *EPIC*, 199 Wn. App. at 276. But here Mr. Dezihan identified two material facts it did not know in 2012 but knew when he filed his lawsuit: the party opponent admissions of attorney Diaz (witnessed in open court by both Mr. Dezihan and Mr. Gillespie) *and* the trial judge in the *Chaussee* case listing Mr. Dezihan's name as a witness in the case even though his name should have remained confidential. (CP 182, 184, 279)

EPIC is legally distinguishable because it is a commercial litigation case. Paper trails upon which a plaintiff can prove his or her case usually abound in such matters whereas such paper trails rarely, if ever, exist in employment retaliation/discrimination cases like this. Courts note, "[p]articularly because employers now know better, direct evidence of employment discrimination is rare." *See Aragon v. Republic Silver State Disposal Inc.*, 292 F.3d 654, 662–63 (9th Cir. 2002)(*citing Davis v. Chevron, U.S.A., Inc.,* 14 F.3d 1082, 1085 (5th Cir. 1994)). "[P]laintiffs often face a paradox. 'Unless the employer is a latter-day George Washington, employment discrimination is as difficult to prove as who chopped down the cherry tree.'" *Thornbrough v. Columbus & Greenville R. Co.,* 760 F.2d 633, 638 (5th Cir. 1985), *abrogated on other grounds, St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks,* 509 U.S. 502 (1993). This is because employers of "even minimal sophistication will neither admit discriminatory animus nor leave a paper trail demonstrating it." *Riordan v. Kempiners*, 831 F.2d 690, 697 (7th Cir. 1987). So to chip away at that paradox, "[c]ourts today must be increasingly vigilant" because "[t]he sophisticated would-be violator has made our job a little more difficult." *Aman v. Cort Furniture Rental Corp.*, 85 F.3d 1074, 1082 (3rd Cir. 1996). Accordingly, the inquiry of whether Mr. Dezihan acted reasonably following the 2012 conversation for the purposes of tolling the discovery rule should be viewed in the context of employment cases where no documented admissions of wrongdoing happen.

Third, reasonable minds could differ as to when Mr. Dezihan discovered, or should have discovered, that his identity was released and that release caused harm. Indeed, the trial court concluded as much. CP 355-356. Again, on summary judgment reasonable inferences are made in favor of the non-moving party and reasonable minds could reach different conclusions on what Mr. Dezihan did or should have done. Or, put differently, whether his conduct was reasonable. For example some jurors could determine that Mr. Dezihan should have made a public record request to DSHS to learn more whereas others could argue otherwise given the fact that the DSHS person refused to provide his identity and stated that he would deny telling Mr. Dezihan what he told him on the phone if asked. CP 518. Some jurors could conclude that what Mr. Dezihan learned in 2012 was enough whereas other could conclude that it wasn't until

2015 when Mr. Dezihan, with a witness, heard the State's attorney admit that the whistleblower complaint was disclosed and hear the trial judge, in a case that would not have existed but for the whistleblower complaint Mr. Dezihan signed, name Mr. Dezihan as a witness. CP 182, 184, 279. For in order to "invoke the discovery rule, the plaintiff must show that he or she could not have discovered the relevant facts earlier," and a jury could reasonably conclude that Mr. Dezihan could not have discovered the whistleblower complaint's disclosure until one of the State's attorneys allegedly admitted to it in 2015. *See Giraud v. Quincy Farm & Chem.*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 449 (2000).

For those reasons, Mr. Dezihan respectfully requests that the State Supreme Court exercise discretion and accept review of this case.

B. The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review because whether a citizen, who volunteers to serve with a State agency, receives protections under RCW 42.40 is an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that Mr. Dezihan was not an "employee" under RCW 42.40 because of RCW 42.40.020(2)'s language, cited *Doty v. Town of S. Prairie,* 155 Wn.2d 527, 522 (2005), and found that since Mr. Dezihan was not paid for work performed he was not an "employee." (Opinion p. 6) The State Supreme Court should accept review of this issue for the following reasons.

First, Division III incorrectly assumed that Mr. Dezihan was trying to "expand the definition of employee." (Opinion p. 9) He is not. Employee means "individual

employed or holding office in any department of agency of state government" and Mr. Dezihan met the definition of being "employed." The actual word, "employed," is not defined in RCW 42.40.020. Accordingly, courts look to the dictionary definitions. Burton v. Lehman, 153 Wn.2d 416, 423 (2005)("If the undefined statutory term is not technical, the court may refer to the dictionary to establish the meaning of the word."). Black's Law Dictionary definition of "employ," of which "employed" is its past tense, contains nary a reference to being paid nor any reference to the frequency in which an individual must show up for work. Black's Law Dictionary, p. 428 (7th Ed. 2000)("Employ, vb. 1. To make use of. 2. To hire. 3. To use as an agent or substitute in transacting business. 4. To commission and entrust with the performance of certain acts or functions or with the management of one's affairs.") Nor does the Black's Law Dictionary definition of "employee." Id. at 428. The record makes clear that the WDFW made use of Mr. Dezihan and his Advisory Committee members - - - members who the State concedes "donate thousands of hours to improve access to fishing, hunting, and wildlife viewing opportunities...for all Washington citizens." CP 402. In that capacity Mr. Dezihan and his fellow Committee members, for example, proposed amendments to state laws and regulations. CP 408. In doing that work WDFW "entrusted" Mr. Dezihan with assisting WDFW in ensuring disabled citizens had equal access to the outdoors. CP 406-410. In doing that work Mr. Dezihan relieved other WDFW employees from doing the things Mr. Dezihan did like recommending regulatory changes, analyzing data, and assessing disability related access issues. CP 408-409 The WDFW paid Mr. Dezihan's expenses associated with that work. CP 411. Presumably Mr. Dezihan had to account for those commuting expenses when it came time to file his tax return. 26 C.F.R. \$1.132-6. Further, the WDFW "hired" Advisory Committee members into that position as shown by the job application it introduced into the record at the trial court level. CP 412 – 413, 416-417. And the WDFW issued Mr. Dezihan a "Supervisors Guide to the Employee Assistance Program" given his election to the Chair of the Advisory Committee. CP 45. Clearly, the record reflects that Mr. Dezihan was an "employee" of WDFW given the common definition of that word.

Second, Division III's conclusion that RCW 42.40.020 protects only those who show up to work each day and collect a regular paycheck from a State agency is inconsistent with RCW 42.40.050's "remedies" provision. For RCW 42.40.050(1)(a) bars both "workplace reprisal *or* retaliatory action" and defines such "reprisal or retaliatory action" as "dismissal" - - an act that would cover a current employee - - and "denial of employment" - - meaning a failure to hire action that would encompass a volunteer, like Dezihan, who might later look for work with a State agency. Put differently: had our State's legislature only intended that RCW 42.40 protect traditional paid workers then why broaden the statute's protections beyond "workplace reprisal" to "or retaliatory action"?

Third, clarifying that RCW 42.40's definition of "employee" applies to volunteers, like Mr. Dezihan, is an issue of substantial public interest. We as a state should encourage citizens to volunteer their time to serve our State, especially in the capacity as Mr. Dezihan did as an advocate for the disable who seek to enjoy the outdoors.

C. The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review because Division III's decision not applying estoppel to this case is contrary to this Court's precedence holding that mixed fact and law issues require jury resolution.

The Court of Appeals found that Mr. Dezihan's estoppel argument failed because the issue of whether Mr. Dezihan was (or was not) an employee was a question of law. (Opinion, p. 9-10) However, when factual disputes exist "[t]he question of employment or agency should have been left to the jury." *Graves v. P. J. Taggares Co.*, 94 Wn.2d 298, 303 (1980). Here the State and Mr. Dezihan disputed whether he was an employee which, in turn, gave rise to a mixed issue of fact and law: was Dezihan an employee (the fact issue) and was Mr. Dezihan a RCW 42.40 protected whistleblower (the legal issue). When mixed issues of fact and law exist estoppel applies with the court addressing the question of law after the trier of fact resolves the factual dispute. *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 441 (2008).

The cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals do not call for an opposite conclusion. The Court of Appeals cited *Newton v. State*, 192 Wn. App. 931, 936 (2016), for the unremarkable proposition that "[s]tatutory interpretation is a matter of law that we review de novo" but there is no evidence that the SAO conducted any statutory interpretation the day Mr. Dezihan and Mr. Gillespie visited the SAO office to file the whistleblower complaint. *Theodoratus* involved whether the government could issue a water right certificate on grounds other than beneficial use (an issue of law) whereas the issue in Mr. Dezihan's case was whether he was an employee which, in turn, "should have been left to the jury." *Graves*, 94 Wn.2d at 303. Lastly, *Doty* which addressed whether a person was a volunteer under the Industrial Insurance Act, did not involve the issue of estoppel. Further, the IAA is narrowly construed whereas the statue upon which RCW 42.40's anti-retaliation provision rests, RCW 49.60.210(2), is broadly construed. *Warnek v. ABB Combustion Eng'g Servs., Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 450, 460 (1999).

Lastly, the Court of Appeals' narrow application of the estoppel doctrine causes practical problems suitable for Supreme Court review. *First*, the current application of the doctrine in this case creates inconsistent results: the SAO found Mr. Dezihan's whistleblower complaint viable and used that complaint to ultimately hold Mr. Nannery to account for his fraud. CP 78. Yet in its administrative prosecution of Mr. Nannery the SAO did not inform Mr. Nannery that the whistleblower complaint

was signed by a "non-employee" which, in turn, deprived Mr. Nannery of the ability to contest the technical basis upon which the SAO (successfully) sought to hold him accountable, here the argument that "the State can't administratively prosecute me based on an invalid whistleblower complaint and the complaint is invalid because it wasn't made by a 'state employee." Yet, when Mr Dezihan sought to hold the SAO responsible for its admitted disclosure of the whistleblower complaint the Court of Appeals allowed the SAO to engage in the flip-flopping conduct estoppel jurisprudence is designed to stop: the employee status of the whistleblower is not an issue when the State wants to prosecute someone (Nannery) but is an issue when the State is then held to account. Second, the State Auditors Office (SAO) ostensibly uses whistleblower complaints (like the one signed by Mr. Dezihan) to investigate fraud and refer certain findings for criminal prosecution. RCW 43.09.050(4). In referring the whistleblower complaint for criminal prosecution the State should, at the time the whistleblower complaint is filed, be held to the determination it makes at the time as to the whistleblower's employee status so as to avoid the above-scenario.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Mr. Dezihan respectfully requests that his petition be granted.

- // //
- ...
- //

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 16th day of April 2021.

CROTTY & SON LAW FIRM, PLLC

By:∠

Matthew Z. Crotty, WSBA 39284 Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

BURTON A. DEZIHAN,)	
)	No. 37262-6-III
Appellant,)	
)	
V.)	
)	
STATE OF WASHINGTON,)	UNPUBLISHED OPINION
)	
Respondent.)	

STAAB, J. — Burton Dezihan sued the State of Washington alleging four causes of action: whistleblower damages, negligence, invasion of privacy, and blacklisting. Mr. Dezihan claims that he has been unable to obtain government employment since the State wrongfully released his identity on a whistleblower complaint.

The trial court dismissed Mr. Dezihan's whistleblower complaint on summary judgment, finding that Mr. Dezihan does not qualify for whistleblower protection because he was not a state employee at the time he filed his complaint. Although the court denied the State's statute of limitations motion, the court nevertheless dismissed Mr. Dezihan's remaining three causes of action, concluding that they were based on his whistleblower status. Mr. Dezihan appealed. The State cross-appealed on the statute of limitations issue. We affirm dismissal, although on alternative grounds. We agree that Mr. Dezihan does not qualify for protection under the "State Employees Whistleblower Act", chapter 42.40 RCW. In addition, we hold that the three-year statute of limitations bars his other claims.

FACTS

1. Factual history

Washington has adopted a public policy of protecting state employees who disclose improper governmental actions. RCW 42.40.010. In 2008, Burton Dezihan and Don Gillespie filed a whistleblower complaint with the state auditor's office (Auditor). The complaint alleged that an employee of the Washington State Department of Transportation—Ferries (Washington Ferries) was using state resources and time to conduct personal activities.

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