FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/17/2021 1:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99677-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BURTON DEZIHAN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

STATE RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JACOB E. BROOKS, WSBA No. 48720 Assistant Attorney General 1116 West Riverside Ave, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201 (509)456-3123

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

"Washington has adopted a public policy of protecting **state employees** who disclose improper governmental actions. RCW 42.40.010." *Dezihan*, slip op. at 2 (March 23, 2021) (emphasis added). Mr. Dezihan did not meet the statutory definition of a "whistleblower" under the State Employee Whistleblower Protection Act because he was not an employee of the State. Reasonable minds could not conclude otherwise because Mr. Dezihan admitted that he was a volunteer, and the Legislature specified by statute that the advisory committee on which he served was comprised of volunteers.

Mr. Dezihan's claims were also barred by the three-year statute of limitations because—again, by his own testimony—he was aware of relevant facts that would form the basis of his claim six years before he filed his lawsuit, thereby triggering the discovery rule. The lower court's ruling created no conflict with this Court's prior rulings, and there is no issue of substantial public interest implicated. Review is not warranted here.

A. Dezihan Did Not Meet the Statutory Definition of a Whistleblower

1. Equitable estoppel does not apply to the legal determination that Mr. Dezihan is not a whistleblower under the Whistleblower Act

Mr. Dezihan is not an employee as a matter of law under the clear terms of RCW 42.40, RCW 77.04.150(1), and this Court's precedent. *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d 540-41 ("volunteers and employees are mutually exclusive categories with juxtaposed definitions"). Mr. Dezihan cites the doctrine of equitable estoppel to try to convert this legal issue into a factual issue, but his argument is not supported by either the facts or the law.

First, Mr. Dezihan never contended that there was a factual dispute about whether he was an employee. *See* Pet. for Review at 14. Accordingly, there is no *factual* dispute on this issue to be left to a jury. He always admitted he was a volunteer; in fact, he was adamant on this point. CP 431 (92:9-12). What he disputed was whether, as a volunteer, he fits the statutory definition of a whistleblower—in part because he claims an investigator told him that his status as a volunteer was sufficient to meet the statutory definition.

Based on that alleged assurance, Mr. Dezihan asserted that the State should be equitably estopped from arguing he was not an employee. But his argument ignores the law. RCW 77.04.150(5) specifies that service on the

Advisory Committee is as an uncompensated volunteer. RCW 42.40.020 defines a protected whistleblower as an "employee." And, as the Court of Appeals noted, even assuming that an investigator told Mr. Dezihan that he qualified as a whistleblower, "courts do not apply equitable estoppel 'where the representations allegedly relied upon are matters of law, rather than fact.' *Dept. of Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d 582, 599, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998)." *Dezihan,* slip op. at 9-10 (also citing *Newton v. State*, 192 Wn. App. 931, 936, 369 P.3d 511 (2016), and *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d at 533).

Second, Mr. Dezihan criticizes the Court of Appeals for its "narrow application of the estoppel doctrine," but that is precisely what this Court has instructed should be done. "Equitable estoppel against the government is not favored." *Kramarevcky v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 122 Wn.2d 738, 743, 863 P.2d 535, 538 (1993). *See also State Dep't of Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d at 599 (where the question is a matter of law, "equitable estoppel will not be applied."). *Laymon v. State Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 99 Wn. App. 518, 526, 994 P.2d 232 (2000); *State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 20-21, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *Williams Place, LLC v. State ex rel. Dep't of Transp.*, 187 Wn. App. 67, 103, 348 P.3d 797 (2015). In *Campbell*, this Court cautioned, "the issue of

⁹ Pet. for Review at 15.

statutory construction . . . is a matter of law, rather than an issue of fact." *Campbell*, 146 Wn.2d at 20.

The Court of Appeals followed this Court's well-established precedent and Mr. Dezihan is not entitled to review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. Mr. Dezihan's attempt to expand the statutory definition of a whistleblower does not implicate a substantial public interest

The definition of a whistleblower under the Whistleblower Act is a straightforward issue, readily answered by the statute itself and does not implicate an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. The Legislature has already determined the public interest involved in the passage of RCW 42.40 and limited the class of persons to whom it affords protection. Mr. Dezihan, as a volunteer committee member, does not fall within that group. The Legislature expressed its purpose unambiguously:

It is the policy of the legislature that *employees* should be encouraged to disclose, to the extent not expressly prohibited by law, improper governmental actions, and it is the intent of the legislature *to protect the rights of state employees* making these disclosures, regardless of whether an investigation is initiated under RCW 42.40.040. It is also the policy of the legislature that *employees* should be encouraged to identify rules warranting review or provide information to the rules review committee, and it is the intent of the legislature to protect the rights of these *employees*.

RCW 42.40.020(10) (emphasis added). The Legislature took the added step of defining the Act's use of the terms "employee" and "whistleblower." It

explicitly defines "employee" as "any individual employed or holding office in any department or agency of state government." RCW 42.40.020(2). Further, each of the four categories of whistleblower requires the individual to be an employee. RCW 42.40.020(10).

In claiming that serving as a volunteer is the same thing as being an employee, Mr. Dezihan ignores the statutes and this Court's precedent regarding the distinction between employees and volunteers. He instead argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Black's Law Dictionary's definition of employee. Pet. for Review at 12. As noted by the Court of Appeals, however, RCW 77.04.150(5) specifies that members of the Advisory Committee (of which Mr. Dezihan was a member) serve without compensation and are volunteers. *Dezihan*, slip. op. at 7. Further, relying on this Court's guidance, it emphasized "the common sense notion that volunteers and employees are mutually exclusive categories with juxtaposed definitions." *Dezihan*, slip. op. at 7-8 (quoting *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d at 540)¹⁰.

Straining to find a public interest warranting review, Mr. Dezihan argues this Court should extend whistleblower protection to volunteers to "encourage citizens to volunteer their time to serve our State." Pet. for

¹⁰ In *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d 527, this Court also rejected the notion that payment of a stipend converted a volunteer to an employee. *Id.* at 542 (noting the stipend did not vary based on the number of hours worked).

Review at 14. While volunteering is certainly a laudable thing to encourage, that was not the Legislature's stated purpose in passing the State Employees Whistleblower Protection Act. The plain language of RCW 42.40 limits the class of individuals protected by statute, and there is no issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Mr. Dezihan is not entitled to review.

B. The Court of Appeals Statute of Limitations Ruling Applies Settled Law

In considering Mr. Dezihan's claim that the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations, the Court of Appeals relied on Mr. Dezihan's own testimony to determine when he was aware of the operative facts to support his claims in 2012. According to Mr. Dezihan, an anonymous DSHS employee called and told him he would not be hired due to his whistleblower status. Accordingly, and contrary to his argument, there was no factual dispute for a jury to decide given his admission. *See* Pet. for Review at 8. Given that there is no conflict with this Court's prior decisions, Mr. Dezihan is not entitled to review.

The statute of limitations is a complete defense to a legal claim. *Young Soo Kim v. Choong-Hyun Lee*, 174 Wn. App. 319, 323, 300 P.3d 431 (2013). The discovery rule, however, operates to toll the date of accrual until the plaintiff knows or, should have known, all the facts necessary to

establish a legal claim. *Giraud v. Quincy Farm & Chem.*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 449, 6 P.3d 104 (2000). The action accrues when the plaintiff knows or should know the relevant facts to establish the claim, whether or not the plaintiff also knows that the facts are enough to establish a legal cause of action. *Killian v. Seattle Pub. Sch.*, 189 Wn.2d 447, 403 P.3d 58 (2017). "Were the rule otherwise, the discovery rule would postpone accrual in every case until the plaintiff consults an attorney." *Allen v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 753, 758, 826 P.2d 200 (1992).

As the Court of Appeals explained, "When a plaintiff claims the statute of limitations was tolled by the discovery rule, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to prove 'that the facts constituting the claim were not and could not have been discovered by due diligence within the applicable limitations period." *Dezihan*, slip op. at 11 (quoting *Clare v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 129 Wn. App. 599, 603, 123 P.3d 465 (2005)). Further, the question of whether a party exercised due diligence is "generally a question of fact *unless* reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion, in which case, the issue can be decided as a matter of law." *Id.* (emphasis supplied).

Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that reasonable minds could not differ on Mr. Dezihan's discovery of the facts constituting his claim based on his own unequivocal testimony. Mr. Dezihan's attempt to create a conflict to support review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) fails because he ignores

that unequivocal testimony. There are no conflicting facts for a jury to weigh. Mr. Dezihan testified that in 2012 he was told that he was not hired for a job because he was a whistleblower. Further, by his own admission, he "absolutely" knew to which whistleblower complaint the anonymous DSHS hiring manager was referring. CP 442 (148:18–23). The Court of Appeals held, "The 2012 statement placed Mr. Dezihan on notice that he was not being hired because the State had released his name as a whistleblower and due diligence required him to make further inquiry to ascertain the scope of that harm." *Dezihan*, slip op. at 14 (citing *Giraud v. Quincy Farm & Chem.*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 450, 6 P.3d 104 (2000)). "[T]he law does not require a smoking gun in order for the statute of limitations to commence. A prospective plaintiff who reasonably suspects that a specific wrongful act has occurred is on notice that legal action must be taken." *Id.* (quoting *Giraud*, 102 Wn. App. at 450-51).

While Mr. Dezihan now seeks to downplay this alleged phone call, this was one of his key pieces of alleged evidence—albeit inadmissible—that any retaliation occurred in the first instance. Based on Mr. Dezihan's

¹¹ The State does not concede that this conversation occurred. While the statement is clearly hearsay and inadmissible under ER 802, it was offered not for the truth of the matter asserted, but for the effect that it had upon Mr. Dezihan. Specifically, the effect it would have upon his knowledge of his alleged status as a blacklisted whistleblower and thus require action on his part to perfect his claim.

own admission, reasonable minds could not differ that he was told in 2012 he was not going to be hired because he was a whistleblower.

Finally, Mr. Dezihan spends considerable time arguing that *EPIC v. CliftonLawsonAllen LLP*, 199 Wn. App. 257, 402 P.3d 320 (2017), is "legally distinguishable because it is a commercial litigation case." Pet. for Review at 9. However, he has offered no authority for the proposition that the discovery rule changes based upon the subject matter of the litigation. The *EPIC* court's articulation of the discovery rule is consistent with all other Washington courts' articulation of the rule: "Under the discovery rule, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the salient facts underlying the cause of action's elements." *EPIC*, 199 Wn. App. at 274 (citing *1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 576, 146 P.3d 423 (2006)). The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's prior decisions or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and this Court should deny his petition for review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellee State of Washington respectfully requests that this Court deny Burton Dezihan's petition for review.